IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
PENSACOLA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
| SEALED
\ v. INDICTMENT

‘  MICHAEL BERGER, é D% CK%/ Z’AQ/

| a/k/a “Box of Rocks,” ;
| JAMES FREEMAN, o
| a/k/a “Mystikal,” - . _ |
| RUBLE KEYS, |
| a/k/a “Crazy Horse,” , |
| : GARY LAKEY, ' .
| a/k/a “Eggplant,” : ' i
\

MARVIN LAMBERT, ’ i
a/k/a “Methuselah,” ’ |
NEVILLE McGARITY, '
a/k/a “Wraith,”
JOHN MOSMAN,
a/k/a “Pickleman,”
- WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/k/a “Lizzard,”
| ' RAYMOND ROY,
| ' a/k/a “Nimo,”
| ERIK WAYERSKI,
| a/k/a “Lerch,”
| - WARREN WEBER,
| a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”
| and
RONALD WHITE,
\ | a/k/a “RoadKill”

Rute B(fY
Retumed in open court pur;uant to %

istrate Judge 5

United States Mag!

Y




THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

COUNT ONE
A. INTRODUCTION

At all times material to this Indictment:

1. The “Internet” is a worldwide, publicly accessible éeries of interconnected
computer networks that transmit data for the purpose of sharing information across state
and international borders.

2. An “Internet service provider” (ISP) is a commercial or business service that

provides Internet access to its subscribers. In addition to providing access, ISPs may also

 provide Internet e-mail accounts, newsgroups and internet relay chat.

3. An “Internet protocol address” (IP address) is a unique numeric édd:ess used
by computers on the Internet. Every computer attached to the Internet must be assigned

an IP .address so that Internet traffic sent from and directed to that computer may be

directed properly from its source to its destination. It acts much like a home or business

street address, and the assignment of such is controlled by the ISP.

4. “Usenet” of “newséroup” is a service on the Internet which utilizes a network
of computers to facilitate the posting of messages in publig virtual locaﬁoﬂs. Itbeganasa
discussion forum for exchanging text messages, but it has since grown into a large file
sharing netvfork where text, software, pictures aﬁd vidg:os can be traded and shared.

5. A “posting” is a message published in an online forum or newsgroup.




6. A “binary file” is a file or set of files éomprised of digits rather than text.(for
example, images or videos). A binary file can then be read or viewed after received by
the intended recipieﬁt

7. “Encryption” is the transformation of information into a cipher or secret code.
It is generally done in order to make the information unreadable to anyone except those
who possess special ldlowledge, llS.l-lall):I referred to as a “key” or “password.”

B. CHARGE

‘That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

' ,indictmem, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL BERGER,
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”
JAMES FREEMAN,

a/k/a “Mystikal,”
RUBLE KEYS,
a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”
GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”
MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”
NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,”
JOHN MOSMAN,

- a/k/a “Pickleman,”
WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/kfa “Lizzard,”
RAYMOND ROY,

. a/k/a “Nimo,”
ERIK WAYERSK]I,
a/k/a “Lerch,”
WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a“Muad’Dib,”
and
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RONALD WHITE,
a/k/a “RoadKill,”

did knowingly and willfully engage in a chiid exploitation enterprise, that is, the -

advcrtisemen:c,' transportation and shipment of child pornography, as defined in Title 18,

- | United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in iﬂterstate and foreign commerce by means of
a computer, as a series of three or more separate incidents apd involving moré than one

\ | © victim, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2252A()

\ | _ : - COUNT TWO |

i - o CHARGE

f | - That between on or about October 1, 2005, through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,

a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”
JAMES FREEMAN,
a/k/a “Mystikal,”
RUBLE KEYS,
a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”
| : : GARY LAKEY,
| : a/k/a “Eggplant,”
' ' : MARVIN LAMBERT,
‘ ' a/k/a “Methuselah,”
| : NEVILLE McGARITY,
i : a/k/a “Wraith,”
| - JOHN MOSMAN,
~ a/k/a “Pickleman,”
- : WARREN MUMPOWER,
| - _ ~ a/k/a “Lizzard,”
‘RAYMOND ROY,
a/k/a “Nimo,”
ERIK WAYERSKI,
a/k/a “Lerch,”

\ B MICHAEL BERGER,
‘ .
\
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WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”
‘and
- RONALD WHITE,
a/k/a “RoadK:ill,”
did knowinﬁy and willfully cbinbine, cbnspire,'cc;nfederate and agree with others both
known and unknown io the grand jury, to commit the foliowing offenses against the
United Sta.tes:

1. To knowingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, printed and
published a noticé and>advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, produce,
display, distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visuai
depictions inyolving minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Ti';le 18,
United States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual dcpictibns containing such conduct,
knowing aﬁd having reason to know that such noticel and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign cdmfnerce by any means, including by mail or -
computer, éll in violation of Title '1 8, United States Code, Section '2251(d)(1).

2. To knowingly transport and ship anci attempt t§ transport and ship images
of child pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States' Cf’)de, Section 2256(8)(A),
which images had been mailed, shipped and transported in interstate and foreign |
comrmerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2252A(a)(1);

3. To knowingly receive and attempt to receive images of child pornography,

as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), which images had been

mailed, shipped and transported in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of Title
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18, United States Code, Section 2252A(a)(2); and

4. To knowingly possess and attempt to possess material which contained
images of child pornography, as defined in Title 18, [:Tm'ted States Code, Section
2256(8)(A), whic;h images had been mailed, shipped and transported in interstate and
foreign commerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2252A(2)(5).

5. To corruptly obstruct, influence and impede and attempt to corruptly
obstn_lét, influence aﬁd impede to the due administration of justice in an official
proceedirig, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(2).

B. MANNER AND MEANS_ OF CONSPIRACY

It was part of the conspiracy that:

1. From on orbabout August 31, 2606, through the date of the return of this
indictment, the defendants, MICHAEL BERGER, a/k/a “Box of Rocks,” JAMES
FREEMAN, a/k/a “Mystikal,” RUBLE KEYS, a/k/a “Crazy Horse,” GARY
LAKEY, a/k/a “Eggpiant,” MARVIN LAMBERT, a/k/a “Methuselah,”
NEVILLE McGARITY, a/k/a “Wraith;” JOHN MOSMAN, a/k/a “Pickleman,”
WARREN MUMPOWER, ajlda “Lizzard,” RAYMOND ROY, ajk/a “Nimo,”
ERIK WAYERSKI, a/k/a “Lerch,” WARREN WEBER, a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”
and RONALD WHITE, a/k/a “RoadXKill,” (hereinafter thé “defendants™), were
members of an Internet group that advertised, transported, shipped, received and

discussed child pornography images and videos th:ough NeEwsgroups.




2. The defendants operated suﬁcptitiously by using encfyption techniques in
order to thwart law enforcement ﬁoﬁl ciiscovering the nature of the conspiracy.
| © 3. On or about August 31, 2006, law enforcement was able to infiltrate the
conspiracy undetécted, and thus law enforcement was able to monii_pr the active
ady;ertisement, tfansportation, shipment, receipt and discussion of child porno graphy
images gnd videos.

4, ‘Betwecn on o‘r about August. 31, 2006, through on or about. the date of the
fetum of this indictment, the members of the group advertised, trans;:;orted, shipped,
received and discussed over 400,000 images and videos of child exploitation:

5.  Beginning in March of 2007, a fedcr,al grand jury sitting in Baltimore,

Maryland, (and later in July of 2007 a federal grand jury sitting in Pensacola, Florida)

_conducted an investigation into allegations that the defendants were engaged in a child

exploitation enterprise, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2252A(g).
C. OVERT ACTS |

In furtherancevof the conspiracy, and to effect the objects thereof, the following
overt acts; among others, were committed in the Northern District of Florida and
elsewhere:

1. On 'of about November 7, 2006, JAMES FREEMAN posted the
following text in the newsgroup “Two folders, “mild” and “wild.” Do yoursélf a favor
and look at all the “mild” pics before looking at the “wild” pics . . . All I can séy is that

they are worth the download.” Attached thereto were directions for the conspirators to
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Teceive Images that \.Nere, in fact, images of child pornography. Following this posting, a
conspiréfor thanked FREEMAN for the images, and FREEMAN wrote in résponse “My
thanks to you and all the others that toéether make this the greatest group of pedos to ever
gather in one pl.ace. .I’m honored just to be a part of it.” '

2. Onorabout November 18, 2006, WARREN WEBER posted text in the
newsgroup to direct conspirators on how to view images of child pornography. WEBER
_ wrote “fedolove 5,6,7,9 .& 12.” -Attached there£o were directions for the conspirators t(;
receive iméges that were, in f;ict, im#ges of child pornography.

3. " On or about November 21, 2006, MARVIN LAMBERT posted the
following text in the newsgroup ‘.‘I have a few 5yo Taras that you .do not héve,” in |
response to a conspirator’s posting of images. A revievs) of the images referénced by
LAMBERT revealed iﬁxages of child pémégraphy.

4. On or about December 18, 2006, NEVILLE McGARITY posted text in
the newsgroup with the subject line “Holiday tunes for all!” Attéched thereto were
dirgctions for the conspirators to receive ﬁumgarous ﬁles that were, in fact, videos and
images of child pornography. Ma-ny of the files referenced the age of the éhildren being
depicted as betweén tﬁe ages of one and twelve years old. At the end of the posting,
McGARITY posted the following text: “Enjoy and Merry Christmas!”

5. On or about January 2, 2007, RONALD WHITE posted text in the |
newsgroup in response to a conspirator’s posting of images. A review of the images

referenced by WHITE revealed images of child pornography.
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6. - Onor aboﬁ.t Feb@ 1,'2607, ERIK WAYERSKI posted the following
text in'the newsgroup: “Marissa, known by the filenames of jan., feb, march,....etc. Seﬁes
Name: Marissa” “! Again, sorry bout the Delay in postings . . .” Attached thereto were
directions fof the conspifators to receiye images that were, in fact, images of child
pomoéaphy.

7. On or about February 17, 2007, MICHAEL BERGER posted the
| following text in the newsgroup: “Meef 5 years old girl called Veronika. She does what -
girls of her age do, eats banana, massages herself with oil, plays with her pussy, etc ...A:).”
Attached thereto were directions for the cor;sp'irators 1o receive imagés that were, in fact,
images of child pomqgfaphy.

8. Onor abcl>ut February 26, 2007, JOHN MOSMAN posted the following
. text in the newsgroup: “...By the way, Im with Spock on Mala and Veronica.MéE is to
die for in those pigtails. We need some naughty sets of her BrickHouse! Aﬁyway just
wanted to take a minuté to say thanks to all.” This was text written in response to posted
text by a conspirator wherein the conspiratof attached directions for §thers to receive
A images that were, in fact, images of child pomography.

9. Onor about May 8, 2007, GARY. LAKEY posted the following text in
thé newsgroup: “Hi Gang, More oldies found. This time a few misc vids: MISC,”
foillow.ed by a list of video ﬁlcé. Attached theret_d were directions for the conspirators to

receive videos that were, in fact, videos of child pornography.




10.  On or about July 1, 2007, RAYMOND ROY posted the following text in
the newsgroup.: “Just dropping iﬁ for a hot minute with some Asian (Thai) flicks to help
out the dry spell, and to give everyone something to do for an afternoon.” Attached
thereto were directiéns for the coﬂspirators to .receive videos that were, in fact, videos of
child pornograpixy. Along with the videos, ROY posted the following tcit: “This one
‘may offend some here, so a word of caution, these girls are heavily drugged. Not much
action to speaic of, the girls are to fucked up to mové, or resist. Three girls, the first one -
being the youngest, around 8 or 9 yo. ﬁude gets his freak on, and jacks off on their
"faces.” '
| 11.  Onor about July 8, 2007, RUBLE KEYS posted the following text in.the-
newsgroﬁp: “Can you also post some of the éther “hcb” vids? At your leisure, of course.
These look great!” This was written in response to posted text by a conspirator wherein
the conspi_rétor attached directions for others to receive images that were, in fact, im.ages
of child porno grapily. .

12.  Onor about July 28, 2007, WARREN MUMPOWER posted the
following text in the newsgroup: “Fallen, a certain gentleman known as Buttn:ugget, who
used to ply the waters of Pedo U, has granted your wisil for the rest of the girl iﬁ blue. ..
This is her solo set. Thgre are a ;:ouple more of her with another giri, a teen named
Angelina.” Attabﬁéd thereto were directions for the conspirators to receive images that

“were, in fact, images of child pomography.

All in violation of Tiﬂe 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT THREE
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL BERGER, -
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”

did knowingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, printed aﬁd published a
notice and advertisement;, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, produce, display,
distﬁbute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depicﬁons
involving minors engaged in sexually explicit.conduct, as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictions coﬁtaim'ng- sﬁch conduct,
knowing and having reason to know 'tha.t such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by mail or
coniputer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 225 l(d)(lj and 2.
COUNT FOUR

That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant, |

JAMES FREEMAN,
a/k/a “Mystikal,”

did knowingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, printed and published a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, produce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions

involving minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United
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States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictioné containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any fneans, including by mail or
. computer, .;111 in violation of Title 418, United States Code,A Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
| COUNT FIVE
That between on or about Aﬁgust 3 i, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northemn bis’crict of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

RUBLE KEYS,
a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”

did knowingly make, print and pﬁblish and cause to be made, l;rinted and published a .
notice and advertisément,, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, produce, display, |
vdistribute and reproduce visual depictions, the p_roduction‘of such visual depictions
involving minors éngaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Tiéle 18, United
Statés Code, Section 2256(2), and guch visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by mail 6r
computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
COUNT SIX |

' That between‘on or about August 31, 2006, through vthe date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”
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did knowingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, printed and published a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exéhange, produce, display,

distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions

involving minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United

States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, ~inc1udiné by mail or
computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 225 ll(d)(l) and 2.
- COUNT SEVEN
That between on or abopt August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”

de knowingly make, print and publish and cauée to be made, printed and published a
notice and advertisgment, secking and offering to receive, exchange, pl;oduce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions
involving minors engaged in séxually expiicit éonduct,, as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Scéti_on 225 6(2),-and such visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transportéd in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by mail or

computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
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COUNT EIGHT
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
} indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,”

did knoWingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, printed and published a
not_ice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, prdduce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions
involving minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, Unitéd
States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and havihg-réason to know that such notice and ad\;ertisement would be
transported m interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by maii or
computer, all in violation of Title 18, Ufﬁted States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
COUNT NINE

That between on o.r about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

iﬁdictment, m the Northemn District of Elorida and e_lsewhere, the defendant, .

JOHN MOSMAN,
a/k/a “Pickleman,”

did knovﬁngly make, print and publish and cause to be made, priﬁted and published a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exéhange, produce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions
invo_lving minors engaged in sexually expliéit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United
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. States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictions containing such cénduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign comfnerce by any means, including by mail or
computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Codé, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
L COUNT TEN
That between on or about August 31, 2006., through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/k/a “Lizzard,”

did knowingly make, print- and publish and cause to be made, printed and published a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, produce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the-production of such visual depictions
involving minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United -
States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depicﬁons containing such conduc't,v
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and forei gﬁ_commerce by any means, including by mail or
coﬁlputer, all in violation.of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2
| ,C'OUNT ELEVEN

That between on or about August 31, 2006, throﬁgh the date of the return of thjs; :

indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant, |

RAYMOND ROY,
a/k/a “Nimo,”
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did knowingly make, print and publish aﬁd cause to be made, printed aﬁd i)ublished a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering tol receive, exchange, produce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions
involving miﬁors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Sec'tioﬁ 2256(2), and such visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transpoﬁed in interstate and foreign commerce by ény means, including by mail or
computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 225 1(d)1) aﬁ_d 2.
C(jUNT TWELVE

That between on or about August 3.1, 2006, through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northern Disi;rict of Florida and elsewhere, the defendaﬂt,

ERIK WAYERSKI,
- a/k/a “Lerch,”

did knowingly make, print and publish and cause to be made, pn'nted and published a
notice and advértisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, pfoduce, displéy, L
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the production of such visual depictions
involving minors engaged in sexually explicit 'conduct, as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2256(2), and such visual depictions containing such conduct,
knowing and having reason to know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by .mail'or

cdmptiter, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
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COUNT THIRTEEN
That beﬁveen on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this »
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”

did knowingly make, print and‘publisﬁ and cause to-be made, pﬁﬁted and published a
notice and advertisement, seeking and offering to receive, exchange, prodﬁce, display,
distribute and reproduce visual depictions, the produ;:ﬁoﬂ of such visual depictions
involving minors engaged in sexuaily explicit éonducf, as defined in Title 18, United
States Cod;:, Sectic)m 2256(2), and such visual-depictions containing such conduct,
knowiné and having reason fo know that such notice and advertisement would be
transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by mail or
computer, all in violation §f Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2251(d)(1) and 2.
COUNT FOURTEEN |

: | That betwéen on or about August 31, 2006, through ‘the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northemn District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL BERGER,
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child
pormnography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreign commerce by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Scctio_ng 2252A(a)(1) and 2.
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COUNT FIFTEEN
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

JAMES FREEMAN,
a/k/a “Mystikal,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship imagés of child
pomography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8).(A), in interstate
and foreign commerce by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, Uﬂited States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) anci 2.
| COUNT SIXTEEN
That between on or about Auéust 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Fiorid_a and_élsewhere, the defendant, |

GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child
pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreigﬁ ;:ommerce by means of a computer, all in violation ‘of Title 18, United States

' Code,' Sections 2252 A(a)(1) and 2. |

| COUNT SEVENTEEN

That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the retﬁm of this

indictznerit, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,
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MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”

did knowir_lgly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child B
pomography, as deﬁned in Title 18, United States Codé, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreign commerce byv ‘meanls of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2. |
COUNT EIGHTEEN »
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elscyvhere, the defendant,

NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child _ |

pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreign .commercé by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, Uﬁited States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2.
COUNT NINETEEN |
That between on or é.bout August 31, 20086, -th:ough the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant, |

WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/k/a “Lizzard,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child

pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
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and forcigh commerce by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2. |
COUNT TWENTY
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
iqdicunent, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

RAYMOND ROY,
a/k/a “Nimo,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and sh1p images of éhild
pomography, as deﬁﬁ_ed in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreign commerce by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2.

COUNT TWENTY-ONE

That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

. indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

ERIK WAYERSKI,
a/k/a “Lerch,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child

pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2256(8)(A), in interstate

and foreign commerce by means of a computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY-TWO
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictrent, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”

did knowingly transport and ship and attempt to transport and ship images of child
pornography, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Scctién 2256(8)(A), in interstate
and foreign commerce by means ofa coxﬁputer, allin violation of Title 18, United States
- dee, Sections 2252A(a)(1) and 2.
COUNT TWENTY-_\THREE
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern Distn'ct,o'f Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL BERGER,
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”

- did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive materianl,‘ namely images
and videos, containing child pornography that had bg:en shipped'and transported in
interstate énd foreign commefce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2. |

| COUNT TWENTY-FOUR
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,
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‘JAMES FREEMAN,
a/k/a “Mystikal,”

did knowingly and intentionglly receive and attempt to-receive material, namely images »
and videos, containing child pornégraphy thét had been shipped and &ansported in
inte;state and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sectiéns 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
COUNT TWENTY-m
That befween on or about Aug_u'st 31, 2006, through the date of ;hC return of this
indictrhent, in the Nérthern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

RUBLE KEYS,
. a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images
and videos, con.taining child pornography that had been shiiaped and transported in
interstéte and foreign commerce :Dy computer, all in violation of ;[itle 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
| COUNT TWENTY-SIX
That between, on or abbut August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in thé Northern District of Florida and elsewherc,_ the defendant,

" GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images

and videos, containing child pornography that had been shipped and transported in
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interstate and foreign cofnmerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, 'United'States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
COUNT TWENTY-SEVEN

That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

- indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images
and videos, containing child porno gfaphy that had been shipped and transpérted in
interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a.)(Z) and 2.
COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT
Tﬁat between on or about Aqgust 31, 20.06, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the. Noﬁhem District of F iorida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,”

. did knowingly and intenﬁonally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images

and videos, containing child pornography that had been shipped and transported in

- Interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
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COUNT TWENTY-NINE
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

JOHN MOSMAN,
a/k/a “Pickleman,”

- did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images

and videos, containing child pornography that had been shipped and transported in
interstate and foreign cor,nmel;_ce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Secﬁons 2252A(2)(2) and 2.

| COUNT THIRTY

That between on or about August 31, 2006,.th'rough the date of the return of this

- indictment, in the Northern District of Flor_ida and elsewhere, the defendént,

WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/k/a “Lizzard,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images

and videos, containing child pornography that had been shipped and transported in

" interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
COUNT THIRTY-ONE

That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this

indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,




RAYMOND ROY,
a/k/a “Nimo,”

did knoiviﬁgly and intentionally feceive and attempt to receive material, namely images
and videos, containing child pornography that had beeﬁ shipped énd transported in
interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States _
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.
| COUNT THIRTY-TWO
That betweeﬁ on or about August 31, 2006, t-hrough the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

ERIK WAYERSKI,
a/k/a “Lerch,”

did knowingly and inténtionally receive a.nd attempt to receive material, namely images
and videos, containing child porﬁography that had been shipped and transported in
interstate and foreign commerce by compﬁter, all in violation.of Title 18, United States
Code, Sedfions 2252A(2)(2) and 2.
COUNT THIRTY-THREE
That Between on or about August 31, 2006, throqgh the date 'c')f the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images

and videos, containing child pomography that had been shipped and transported in
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interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violgtion of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2. |
' COUNT THIRTY-FOUR
That between on or about August 31, 2006, through the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

RONALD WHITE,
a/k/a “RoadKill,”

did knowingly and intentionally receive and attempt to receive material, namely images
and videos, containing child pornography that had been shipped and transported in

interstate and foreign commerce by computer, all in violation of Title 18, United States

© Code, Sections 2252A(a)(2) and 2.

COUNT THIRTY-FIVE
That between on or about October 1, 2005, throﬁgh the date of the return of this
indictment, in the Northem District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL BERGER,
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”
JAMES FREEMAN,

a/k/a “Mystikal,”
RUBLE KEYS,
a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”
GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”
MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”
NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,” "
JOHN MOSMAN,
a/k/a “Pickleman,”
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WARREN MUMPOWER,
: a/k/a “Lizzard,”
RAYMOND ROY,
~ a/k/a “Nimo,”™
ERIK WAYERSKI,
a/k/a “Lerch,”
WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”
and
RONALD WHITE,
a/k/a “RoadKill,”

did corruptly obstruct, influence and impede and attempt to corruptly obstruct, influence

and impede the due administration of justice in an official proceeding, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(2).

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE

The allegations contained in Counts One through Thirty-Four of this Indictment
are hereby realleged and incorporated by feferencé for the purpose of alleging forfeiture,

pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2253.

From their engagement in the violations alleged in Counts One through Thirty- .
Four of this Indictment, the defendants,

MICHAEL BERGER,
a/k/a “Box of Rocks,”
JAMES FREEMAN,

-a/k/a “Mystikal,”
RUBLE KEYS,
a/k/a “Crazy Horse,”
GARY LAKEY,
a/k/a “Eggplant,”
MARVIN LAMBERT,
a/k/a “Methuselah,”
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NEVILLE McGARITY,
a/k/a “Wraith,”
JOHN MOSMAN,
a/k/a “Pickleman,”
WARREN MUMPOWER,
a/k/a “Lizzard,”
RAYMOND ROY,
a/k/a “Nimo,”
ERIK WAYERSKI,
a/k/a “Lerch,”
WARREN WEBER,
a/k/a “Muad’Dib,”
and
RONALD WHITE,
‘a/k/a “RoadKill,”

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 2253,
all interest in: |

A. Any visual depiction or other matter containing such visual depiction or image
of child pornography which was produced, transported, mailed, shipped, reé_eiyed, or
possessed as alleged in Counts One through Thirty-Four of this Indictment;

B. Any property, real or personal, constituting of traceable to gross profits dr
other proceeds obtained from the offenses alleged m Counts One thrdugh Thirty-Four of
this Indiétment; and |

C. Axiy property, real or personal, used or intended to be used to commit or
promote the commission of the offenses alleged in Coun.ts One through Thir;yfF our of
this Indictment. | |

The property' referenced in paragraph two, subparagraphs A, B and C Zabové :
includes, but is not limited to, computer hardware such as monitors, central processing
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umts keyboards, computer programs, software, computer storage devices, such as disk
drive units, disics, tapes and hard disk drives/um'ts, peripherals, modems and other
telephonic and acoustical cquipmeﬁt, printers; contents of memory data contained in and
through the aforementioned hardware and software, tools, equipment and manuals aﬁd :
documentation for the aséembly and use of the aforemcﬁtiQned hardv;rare and software.
If, as the result of any act or omission qf the defcndant any of the pfoperly described-
above as b.eing' subject to forfeiture: |

A. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

B hés been transferred or sold to, or "d.eposited with, a third person;

C. has been placed beyond the; jurisdiction of the Court;

D.  has been substantially diminished in value; or

has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without

t

 difficuity;




it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18,.United States Code, Section
2253(0), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the &efcndant up to the value of any
forfeitable property de;cribed above. v

Ali pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Secﬁon 2253,

A TRUE BILL:

“FOREPERSON __ /

&z / /?/ 9’200(»
DATE

GREGO NER
United Stat proey

DAVID L. GO@DBERG\Q
Assistant United States Aftorney

Chlld Exp101tat10h and Obscenity Section
U.S. Department of Justice
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